Brigham Young University Law School BYU Law Digital Commons

Utah Supreme Court Briefs

2001

Property Improvement Corporation v. CLEON D. TUCKER and MRS. CLEON D. TUCKER, also known as BETTY J. TUCKER, his wife; WILLARD M. TUCKER and MRS. WILLARD M. TUCKER, also known as PHYLLIS 0. TUCKER, his wife; CONTINENTAL ACCOUNT SERVICING HOUSE, INC., a Utah corporation; and KEY ACCOUNT COLLECTION HOUSE, INC., a Utah corporational Brief of Appellant law.byu.edu/byu_sc2

Part of the Law Commons Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiff brought suit upon a promissory note secured by a pledge of certain stock, seeking judgment and judicial foreclosure of the stock, to which the Defendants raised several defenses.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The lower court granted Plaintiff partial summary judgment against the individual Defendants only, in the sum of \$151,878.75, interest, and costs, leaving the amount of attorneys fees to be determined later and authorized the Plaintiffs to proceed to sell the stock securing the note.

The lower court denied the motions of the Defendants Cleon D. Tucker, Betty J. Tucker, Willard M. Tucker and Phyllis O. Tucker (hereinafter called "Defendants Tucker") for an order that the order granting summary judgment in part would not constitute a final judgment for lien purposes until it should be determined whether a deficiency would exist and the amount thereof.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Defendants Tucker seek reversal of the Amended Order Granting Summary Judgment in part and a trial of the outstanding issues of law and fact.

Defendants Tucker further seek a reversal of the lower court's determination that Plaintiff could proceed to obtain a general judgment lien on property of the Defendants Tucker for the full amount of the partial summary judgment without first exhausting the stock securing the note and arriving at a deficiency judgment.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On March 26, 1974, the Defendants Tucker executed a Contract of sale, under which they were to acquire from Defendant Eugene S. Simpson: a) 8,550 shares of stock in Defendant Continental Account Servicing House, Inc. (hereinafter called "Continental") and b) 693,500 shares of stock in Defendant Key Account Collection House, Inc. (hereinafter called "Key") (R. 45, 62)

Under the terms of the Contract of Sale, Defendants
Tucker were to pay Defendant Simpson \$902,000.00 for Simpson's
stock, (R. 46), which represented nearly all of the issued and
outstanding stock of Continental and over 50% of the issued and
outstanding stock of Key. (R. 45).

As part of the overall transaction, Defendants Tucker transferred certain interests in land and land contracts to Continental and Continental issued 6,000 additional shares of stock to the Defendants Tucker. (R. 45, 46)

5,700 of such additional shares together with the 8,550 shares in Continental and 693,500 shares in Key the Tuckers were to purchase from Simpson were placed in escrow to secure a loan made by Plaintiff Property Improvement Corporation. (R. 41, 43, 48)

On June 19, 1974, Defendants Tucker filed an action in the United States District Court for the District of Utah against Simpson, Continental and Key alleging that Tuckers were induced by Simpson, Continental and Key to enter into the stock acquisition contract by means of fraud and misrepresentations violating federal and state securities laws.

Such federal court suit remains pending awaiting trial as of the time of the writing of this brief.

Defendants Tucker on the one hand and Defendants

Simpson, Continental and Key on the other, are separately

represented in this proceeding and have filed separate appeals.

Case No. 14231 is the number assigned to the appeal filed by Defendants Simpson, Continental and Key. Case No. 14237 is the number assigned to the appeal filed by Defendants Tucker.

The Promissory Note upon which Plaintiff Property

Improvement Corporation filed suit in the instant suit provides in material part:

In the event that the undersigned shall fail to make the aforesaid payment upon the due date or within a grace period of 45 days thereafter, the entire amount thereof shall be due and payable and said Property Improvement Corporation shall proceed to receive that stock held as security as hereinafter set forth, sell the same at a private sale with five days notice to the undersigned, and proceed to look to any or all of the undersigned for any deficiency remaining thereon. (R. 41)

Plaintiffs Amended Complaint asserted a security interest in the stock of Continental and Key in escrow to secure the note. It also asserted an interest in the real property transferred to Continental by Tuckers. It demanded:

a) judgment on the note; b) a judgment that the stock securing the note be sold at public auction by the Sheriff, c) that the proceeds be applied toward the sums found owing the Plaintiff; d) that if a deficiency remained, that the Tuckers' property which had been transferred to Continental be foreclosed and sufficient be sold to satisfy the obligation, and e) that if any deficiency remained thereafter, that the "Plaintiff have judgment and execution against the Defendants, and each of them, jointly and severally, for the full amount of such deficiency."

Among the matters raised in defense to the Promissory Note by answer and affidavit, was an issue of whether the portion of the loan proceeds retained or paid to Plaintiff's agent or agents should be deducted from the note or offset against any amount found owing to Plaintiff. (R. 27, 77, 86, 90, 120)

In response to Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment, the lower court left the following matters for later determination upon presentation of evidence: a) The amount of any attorneys' fees to be awarded Plaintiff; b) the issue of whether Defendants Continental and Key were liable upon the note; c) the issue of whether Defendants Simpson, Continental and Key were entitled to a deduction or offset in the amount of the loan proceeds received by agents of Plaintiff; d) the issue of whether Plaintiff was entitled to foreclose upon the Tuckers' property interests that had been transferred to Continental. (R 92, 101)

The remaining issues raised by Defendants' Answers and Affidavits were apparently resolved against the Defendants.

The lower court granted Plaintiff a partial summary judgment against the Defendants Tucker and against Defendants Eugene S. Simpson and Jane Doe Simpson for the amount of the note, interest, and costs. The Court also granted Plaintiff a judgment of foreclosure on the stock securing the promissory note. (R. 92, 101)

Defendants Tuckers entitlement to an offset or deduction in the amount of the loan proceeds received by agents of Plaintiff was raised by an Affidavit in opposition to Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment prior to the Court's ruling on Plaintiff's Motion. (R. 86) Such issue was again raised by an amended asnwer filed by the Defendants Tucker after the court ruled. (R. 115, 120)

Immediately after the lower court entered an Amended Order Granting Summary Judgment in part, Plaintiff recorded such amended order or an abstract or transcript thereof in Utah County, Carbon County, Duchesne County, Sanpete County, Salt Lake County (and Davis County) and perhaps in other counties for the apparent purpose of immediately encumbering the interests in land owned by Defendants Tucker with a judgment lien. (R. 105, 111)

Defendants Tucker filed motions requesting the lower court to vacate, alter, or amend its Partial Summary Judgment to provide it did not constitute a general judgment lien and that no general judgment lien would arise unless and until the stock securing Plaintiff's Promissory Note had been properly exhausted. (R. 105-107, 111-113)

The lower court denied the motions. (R. 130-131)

ARGUMENT

POINT I

GENUINE ISSUES OF LAW AND FACT PRECLUDING SUMMARY

JUDGMENT WERE PRESENTED BY THE PLEADINGS AND BY AFFIDAVIT Digitized by the Howard W. Hunter Law Library, J. Reuben Clark Law School, BYU.

Machine-generated OCR, may contain errors.

INCLUDING THE ISSUE OF WHETHER THE AMOUNT OF THE LOAN PROCEEDS RETAINED OR RECEIVED BY AN AGENT OF THE PLAINTIFF SHOULD BE DEDUCTED FROM THE AMOUNT OWED TO PLAINTIFF, THE ISSUE OF THE DOLLAR AMOUNT SO RETAINED, AND THE ISSUE OF THE AMOUNT OF ATTORNEY'S FEES.

Rule 56, Utah Rules of Civil Procedure provides:

(c) ... The judgment sought shall be rendered forthwith if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue or to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.

Here the lower court itself recognized that there were issues going to the amount of the judgment that should be awarded which could not be resolved without a trial.

The first issue the lower court recognized right in its Minute Entry (R. 92) was whether an offset or deduction should be allowed in the amount of the loan proceeds that never reached any of the Defendants.

By Affidavit the Defendants Tucker averred that the entire amount of the loan proceeds had gone either to agents of the Plaintiff or to the other Defendants. (R. 86)

It is manifest that if an offset is proper in the amount of the loan proceeds retained by a lender's agent, then that reduces the obligation itself and thus automatically inures equally to the benefit of all borrowers. It was manifest error for the lower court to in effect hold that the Defendants, all

of whom signed the note in the same capacity, i.e., as makers, could be liable for different amounts when they all undertook exactly the same obligation to the lender.

The second issue the lower court recognized was the amount of attorney's fees to be awarded. With these issues unresolved it was manifest error for the lower court to direct foreclosure of the stock securing the note. Since the amount of any offset and the amount of attorney's fees on the note remained to be determined, there was no fixed dollar liability of the Defendants to the Plaintiff against which the proceeds of the immediate stock foreclosure sale permitted could be measured. There was no predicate for a proper sheriff's return showing the amount of a deficit or surplus because there was no settled dollar starting point. If the retained loan proceeds amount to \$50,000.00, Defendants could well argue the Sheriff would have to stop selling shares of stock after getting \$100,000.00 since that was the amount of liability to plaintiff that existed.

If the Sheriff sold stock up to \$150,000.00 plus and \$100,000.00 was the total liability, would the Sheriff be liable for wrongful execution or conversion of \$50,000.00 plus worth of stock? How could the Sheriff know how much to add for attorney's fees in arriving at the point at which he should cease selling stock?

The Court obviously erred in granting the partial summary judgment granted when it recognized right in its own partial summary judgment decision, outstanding issues of fact

and law that prevented it from arriving at the actual dollar liability of the Defendants. This manifest error alone requires reversal and remand without a recitation of the further legal issues raised by the defenses to the note set forth in Defendants' respective anwers and affidavits.

POINT II

THE AMENDED ORDER GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT IN PART SHOULD HAVE BEEN VACATED, ALTERED OR AMENDED TO SHOW THE SAME DID NOT CONSTITUTE A FINAL JUDGMENT THAT COULD BE DOCKETED IN SEVERAL COUNTIES TO IMMEDIATELY CREATE A JUDGMENT LIEN ON REAL PROPERTY PRIOR TO FORECLOSURE OF THE STOCK PLEDGED TO SECURE THE OBLIGATION AND THE DETERMINATION OF THE AMOUNT OF ANY DEFICIENCY.

No provision in the promissory note made Exhibit "A" to Plaintiff's Complaint, (R. 41) no provision in the escrow instructions made Exhibit "B" to Plaintiff's Complaint, (R. 43) and no provision in the contract of sale made Exhibit "C" to Plaintiff's Complaint (R. 45) permits Plaintiff to ignore the stock securing the note in favor of a general lien statewide on the property of the Defendants Tucker right in the middle of a lawsuit brought by Plaintiff specifically demanding that the stock be first sold and then that specific land interests be sold, and then that a personal judgment be rendered for any remaining deficiency.

The court grossly erred in allowing Plaintiff to thus proceed clear outside and beyond not only the terms of the

instruments themselves but even beyond the demands for relief contained in Plaintiff's Complaint and Affidavit in Support of Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment.

The note plainly provides in material part that upon non payment Plaintiff:

"Shall proceed to receive that stock held as security..., sell the same at a private sale with five day's notice... and proceed to look to any or all of the undersigned for any deficiency remaining thereon." (R. 41)

The escrow instructions plainly state that the stock:

"Will be held as security for the performance of the undersigned in the payment of the promissory note owing to Property Improvement Corporation by the undersigned. If on or before May 13, 1975, your office has not received written notification from Property Improvement Corporation that the note has been paid in full together with interest due thereon, then you are to immediately deliver to Property Improvement Corporation all of the said shares together with stock powers relative thereto. This you will do without further notice or demand from any party hereto." (R. 43)

The contract of sale plainly provides that if Plaintiff's note is not paid by Defendant Simpson should Defendants Tucker not pay it:

"... said escrow agent shall forthwith transfer said stock certificates to the individual making said loan who may proceed to exercise the same with full rights of ownership."

The above quoted provisions of the agreements relied upon by Plaintiff are all of the provisions dealing with and setting forth the parties agreements as to what Plaintiff's rights would be upon non payment of the note. No provision in the agreements gives Plaintiff the right to skip ahead to a general judgment

lien on all Defendants' property for the full amount of the note even before finding out whether and to what extent there might actually be a deficiency after sale of the stock.

As mentioned above, Plaintiff's Amended Complaint demands: a) a judgment that the stock be sold; b) if a deficiency should remain after sale of the stock, a foreclosure sale as to the interests in real property Defendants Tucker transferred to Defendant Continental; c) if a deficiency should remain after such foreclosure sale "that Plaintiff have judgment and execution against the Defendant, and each of them, jointly and severally, for the full amount of such deficiency." (R. 39-40)

Plaintiff's Affidavit in support of Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment demands the same thing as Plaintiff's Complaint - judgment and execution against the Defendants for any deficiency only after first a sale of the stock and second, a sale of specific real property. (R. 78-79)

The lower court properly decided a summary judgment would not be proper as to Plaintiff's demand for foreclosure of certain real property belonging to Defendants Tucker without a trial to determine the legal issues involved, but then permitted Plaintiff an end run procedure exactly like full exhaustion of all security had already occurred.

The lower court's Partial Summary Judgment and refusal to prevent the use thereof as a final personal judgment, gave Plaintiff lien rights and imposed upon Defendants Tucker burdens

way beyond that provided by agreement and way beyond that asked by the Plaintiff's own pleadings as well.

In doing so the lower court compounded the manifest legal error that occurred when it granted judgment for a sum, reserving for future resolution issues that would push the judgment amount up or down, yet permitting immediate foreclosure of the stock securing whatever sum was actually owing. Its action placed Defendants Tucker in a totally untenable position. were thus faced with being compelled to pay whatever Plaintiff should demand as the cost of obtaining the release of Plaintiff's apparent \$151,000.00 judgment lien on Tuckers' property and closing down Tuckers' land development and sales program while trying to clear Tucker's titles to land of the unwarranted cloud of the order granting summary judgment through this appeal proceeding. This the lower court permitted notwithstanding the fact that stock securing Plaintiff's note could be expected to totally satisfy the same if it brought only a very small fraction of what Defendant Simpson insisted it was worth when selling the same stock to Defendants Tucker for \$902,000.00.

The result reached by the lower court flies squarely in the fact of the ordinary principle of contract law that a contract is to be enforced according to its terms.

Such result is unsupported by and beyond Plaintiff's own pleadings.

Further, such result contravenes the policy and purpose of Utah's "one action", "primary fund" rule respecting the

foreclosure of mortgages upon real estate and personal property. Sections 78-37-1, and 78-37-2, <u>Utah Code Annotated</u>, (1953); <u>Boucofski v. Jacobsen</u>, 36 Utah 165, 104 Pac. 117(1909); cf <u>Walker v. Community Bank</u>, 111 Cal Rptr. 897, 518 P.2d 729 (1974).

Finally, Defendants Tucker submit that the lower courts "Amended Order Granting Summary Judgment in Part" was not the kind of "judgment" intended by the judgment lien statute, Section 78-22-1, Utah Code Annotated, (1953).

The latter statute provides:

From the time the judgment is docketed it becomes a lien upon all the real property of the judgment debtor, not exempt from execution, in the county in which the judgment is entered, owned by him at the time or by him thereafter acquired during the existence of such lien ...

The statute refers to a "judgment debtor". It provides for a lien continuing for eight (8) years. It obviously contemplates a final personal money judgment upon which a general execution might be levied.

It does not contemplate an interim order authorizing foreclosure of property securing an obligation where the question of whether and the extent to which there will be a deficiency has not yet been determined. See <u>Boyle v. Baggs</u>, 10 Utah 2d 203, 350 P.2d 622 (1960); <u>Roach v. Roach</u>, 132 N.E.2d 742 (Ohio 1956); and <u>McClanahan v. Hawkins</u>, 367 P.2d 196 (Ariz. 1961).

In <u>Boyle v. Baggs</u>, this Court reaffirmed the construction of Utah's judgment creditor lien statute set forth in <u>Beesley</u>

v. Badger, 66 Utah 194, 240 Pac. 458(1925).

In the Beesley v. Badger case, this Court held:

"that a money judgment may be a lien, it is essential, not only that there be a valid and subsisting judgment rendered by a court of competent jurisdiction and subject to collection by execution, but the judgment must also be for the payment of a definite and certain sum of money." (emphasis added)

The general considerations requiring such a construction were discussed in Boyle v. Baggs:

- (a) An indefinite judgment depending on circumstances outside the judgment would put a would be purchaser of real property at a disadvantage involving possible or probable litigation to definitely determine the facts upon which the existence of the judgment lien depended.
- (b) It is the policy of the law to keep land titles clear and to encourage alienability of property rather than the contrary.
- (c) The construction placed on the statute should make the statute practical and workable in operation.

 The same policy considerations have resulted in other

states interpreting and applying their respective judgment credit or lien statues the same way. See Roach v. Roach and McClanahan v. Hawkins, supra and cases cited therein.

Non final, inconclusive judgments, if liens or if they even appear on the records as possible liens, obviously serve only to cloud titles, create confusion, impel title companies

to make exceptions unacceptable to purchasers and hence to breed quiet title suits and slander of title actions.

The lower court's allowance of Plaintiff's effort to cloud all of the Tuckers' land titles with the order granting summary judgment was and is particularly abusive and inappropriate here for the reason that the Tuckers' business and livelihood was and is land development and sales, hence the cloud created by Plaintiff's recording of the order in county after county was and is particularly harmful to the Tuckers because of its effect to obstruct sales and prevent the making of contracts of sale even though Plaintiffs was not in a position to seek a writ of execution. (R. 111,112) Prospective purchasers obviously would hardly agree to buy with the \$150,000.00 summary judgment appearing on the title report.

No legitimate purpose was served by the lower court's refusal to make it clear that its allowance of a partial summary judgment and foreclosure of stock was not a final fixed dollar judgment for purposes of the creditor lien statute.

This court, in <u>Bell v. Jones</u>, 110 P.2d 327 (Utah 1941) struck a portion of a judgment that could have been construed to cloud title by giving a vendors lien even though this court decided the such would not actually be the effect of the language stricken. Similar action, sought here by Tuckers, was the lower Court's clear duty.

Clearly no purpose was or is to be served by ignoring Tuckers plea thus unnecessarily forcing them either into a thicket of further suits concerning their land titles, shutting down their business or both when sale of the specific security for Plaintiff's note may well satisfy the entire obligation.

CONCLUSION

The partial summary judgment should be reversed or vacated.

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