2001

Property Improvement Corporation v. CLEON D. TUCKER and MRS. CLEON D. TUCKER, also known as BETTY J. TUCKER, hrs wife; WILLARD M. TUCKER and MRS. WILLARD M. TUCKER, also known as PHYLLIS O. TUCKER, his wife : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE DECISION OF THE TRIAL COURT WAS PROPER FOR THE REASON THAT THERE WERE NO DISPUTED ISSUES OF MATERIAL FACT CONTAINED IN ITS ORDER OF SUMMARY JUDGMENT.

Defendants Tucker have raised two major issues as purportedly being disputed issues of material fact. The first issue concerns an offset which the Defendants Tucker claim is owing to them. However, such alleged offset was never pled before the court nor did the court ever make a holding concerning any such offset. The second issue is the matter of attorney's fees.

Even a cursory examination of the court's amended order granting summary judgment in part (R.101), however, will disclose that the matter of attorney's fees was neither included in the judgment nor decided, but was, rather, reserved for future hearings. Both of these matters will be discussed in more detail immediately following.

- A. There is no disputed issue of material fact concerning an offset purportedly owing to Defendants Tucker since such was never alleged in the pleadings before the court.

Defendants Tucker first introduced their claim to an "offset" in their amended answer to amended complaint, Fourth Affirmative Defense (R.120). This is also the only portion of the record where they claim an offset.

This amended answer was ignored by the trial court, and rightly so for several reasons.

First, the amended answer was filed on August 20, 1975, 23 days after the court entered its order granting summary judgment in part (R.96), and 20 days after the court entered its amended order granting summary judgment in part (R.101). In other words, the issue of an offset was first raised by the Defendants Tucker after the case had been fully adjudicated as to them. This is simply not the proper and timely way to raise an issue. Rule 56(e), U.R.C.P. At 4A C.J.S., Appeal and Error, §1207 (1957), this fundamental point of logic is inscribed. "A matter will not be considered by the appellate court although it may appear in the record if it is not properly there."

Second, the amended answer was filed 77 days after the filing of the answer and without leave of either the court or opposing counsel as required by Rule 15(a), U.R.C.P. Not only was it filed far too late for consideration but also it was never properly before the trial court. Such being the case, the amended answer must be stricken from the record.

Third, even if the trial court could have considered the issue of offset -- which, of course, was physically impossible due to the chronological sequence of the filing of the amended answer -- it was never raised by sworn affidavit as is required

by Rule 56(e), U.R.C.P. The affidavit of Willard M. Tucker (R.86) states at Paragraph 6 simply that the Tuckers never received any of the proceeds of the loan. There was absolutely no allegation that an offset was owing or even an allegation that the Defendants Tucker should have received some of the loan proceeds. In fact, there was no legal or contractual requirement that the Tuckers receive any of the proceeds of the loan, which, logically, were to be paid to the seller and to seller's brokers, and the Tuckers simply were not included in that group. Such being the case, they cannot now attempt to raise an issue before the appellate court which was not before the trial court. 4 C.J.S., Appeal and Error, §243 (1957).

Defendants Tucker have alleged that the issue of "offset" was raised by the court in its minute entry prior to the entry of the judgment. However, the minute entry cannot be considered under well-established principles of law. The court's formal written judgment supersedes all previous statements as to the court's intentions. This included previous oral arguments (Newton v. State Road Commission, 23 Ut.2d 350, 463 P.2d 565, 567 (1970)) and also, more importantly, previous written statements (Cook v. Gardner, 14 Ut.2d 197, 381 P.2d 78 (1963)).

The Cook case, supra, is perhaps the most definitive statement on the matter. There the court upheld the formal judgment of the trial court which differed from the minute entry, by holding that ". . .of controlling importance is the fact that the minute entry is superseded by the document signed by the judge which becomes the order of the court. . . ." Id. 80. The minute entry could not possibly be construed as the judgment of the trial court because it is insufficient to act as a judgment under Rule 58(a) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure where it is stated that "all judgments shall be signed by the judge and filed with the clerk." The court's minute entry in this case is both unsigned and superseded by the formal judgment.

In Osborne v. Osborne, 60 Wash. 2d 163, 372 P.2d 538 (1962), that court explained the significance of a minute entry.

"But an unsigned minute entry is not a judgment. As was said in State ex rel Thomas v. Lawler, 23 Wash.2d 87, 159 P.2d 622, a minute entry made by the clerk of the court has nothing to do with the final judgment of the court. It is merely evidence of what the judge has decided to do at the time. He is free to change his decision at any time before the entry of his final order or judgment. If the minute entry is different from the judgment entered, it cannot be used for the purpose of contradicting or impeaching the judgment." Id. 541. (Emphasis added.)

In addition, it must be considered that in the present case the trial court had full opportunity to reconsider its minute entry and its order when it signed its amended order of summary judgment and when it heard and denied Defendants' motion to correct amended order (R.105) and Defendants' motion for order vacating judgment (R.111). Even after having considered the matter on four distinct occasions, the trial court refused to disturb its formal order of summary judgment.

This is the law not only in Utah but also in almost all jurisdictions. 46 Am.Jur.2d, Judgments, §153 (1969) states:

"The records of the judgment should be distinguished from the judge's minutes which are merely memoranda which the judge makes upon his own docket, for his own convenience, to enable him to see that the clerk accurately makes up the record."

In Pierce County v. Thurston County, 13 Wash.App. 602, 536 P.2d 3 (1975), a most recent decision, the court held: "Whatever a trial court may assert in an oral or memorandum decision has no binding effect unless it is incorporated in its formal findings or conclusions." Id. 4.

The minute entry was not the court's judgment nor was it a pleading. It should not be considered part of the record of the court but purely as an informal note evidencing what the court was thinking at the time. Such being the case, then, it cannot be considered on appeal.

In Southern Pacific Transportation Company v. Lueck, 11 Ariz. 560, 535 P.2d 599 (1975), that court held under its Rule 75(h) (which is similar to Rule 75(h), U.R.C.P.) that it would follow ". . .the general rule of wide application that an appellate court can determine a cause only upon the record of the court below." Id. 614. The Utah decision of Williams v. Tuckett, 98 Ut.398, 95 P.2d 982 (1939), follows the same rule. This case is particularly relevant to the point that a minute entry cannot be considered on appeal for any purpose whatsoever.

"We are of the opinion that there is nothing for us on appeal. An appeal may not be taken from a minute entry, but must be taken from a judgment entered upon the order evidenced in the minute entry." Id. 982.

See also Omega Investment Company v. Woolley, 75 Ut. 274, 284 P. 523 (1930).

The matter of an offset is not a disputed issue of material fact for the simple reason that it was neither properly alleged in the pleadings before the court nor ever mentioned in any of the court's orders. The first mention arises in Appellants' Brief. The rule is firmly established that if a matter was not raised before the trial court it cannot be raised on appeal.

- B. There is a disputed issue of material fact concerning attorney fees, but this is irrelevant to the appeal since the trial court reserved the matter for future hearings.

The trial court's reservation of the matter of attorney fees until a future hearing had the effect of denying the Plaintiff's motion for summary judgment as to attorney fees. This issue, therefore, is still before the trial court; no money judgment as to attorney fees has been entered in this case (R.101). The judgment being appealed from does not include a judgment for attorney fees, and any execution proceedings to exact the amount of the judgment from the Defendants' property will most certainly not include attorney fees.

The matter of attorney fees will no doubt come before the trial court either at trial or on special hearing at a future date. Should a certain amount be awarded as attorney fees at that time, that judgment will be separate and distinct from the judgment in issue at the present time. Plaintiff would point out to the court, then, that it concedes that the question of attorney fees is still in dispute, but Plaintiff would also point out that the trial court's judgment recognized that fact and denied Plaintiff's motion for summary judgment as to attorney fees. By the trial court's own judgment, the matter of attorney fees was reserved for a future hearing.

POINT II

THE ORDER OF THE TRIAL COURT WAS CORRECT AND PROPER AND WAS FULLY WITHIN ITS POWER AND AUTHORITY.

The Defendants Tucker claim in their brief that the trial court grossly exceeded its power and authority by granting summary judgment to the Plaintiff. They have taken issue with the trial court's judgment on three major points, each of which is discussed immediately following.

- A. The trial court is limited in its decision neither by the pleadings of Plaintiff nor by the terms of the breached agreement.

Particularly in the present case, the trial court was not restricted in the relief it could afford the Plaintiff by Plaintiff's prayer for specific relief. This is the well-settled rule and is stated at 49 C.J.S., Judgments, §49 (1947).

"In contested cases, or cases in which an answer has been filed, the relief which may be granted is not limited to that demanded in the complaint or specifically prayed for, particularly under statutes in effect so providing; the court may grant any relief which is consistent with the case made by the pleadings and proof and embraced within the issues." Id. 113.

The same section further states that when there are claims for both general and specific relief, the court's alternatives are not limited by the request for specific relief.

"Where a prayer for general relief is added to the demand of specific relief, the court is not limited to the specific demand, but may grant, particularly under code practice,

such other appropriate relief as may be consistent with the allegations and proofs and necessary to adjust fully the equities of the case. . . ." Id. 114.

Such is the situation in the present case. Plaintiff's amended complaint contains a demand for specific relief (R.39, ¶¶1-3) and a demand for general relief (R.40, ¶4). The Utah courts are in agreement with the general rule which allows the trial court to grant relief as it chooses. In Walker v. Singleton, 63 Ut. 283, 225 P. 81 (1924), this court held:

"It may also be the case that where both specific and general relief are prayed for, as in this case, the court may not follow the prayer for specific relief, but may grant general relief. Such seems to have been the course pursued in the case at bar. The objection, therefore, that the relief granted by the court was broader than the specific relief prayed for, is not tenable." Id. 82.

The Defendants Tucker have also argued that the trial court was limited in the relief granted by its judgment to the express terms of the breached agreements. This argument is not appropriate in this case for the reason that this action is for breach of performance on a promissory note contract and not for the performance of a contract.

It must also be added at this point that it is almost unconscionable for the Defendants Tucker to argue that Plaintiff is restricted to the relief afforded by the terms of the agreement when the Defendants Tucker have been directly responsible for destroying all the security and all of the avenues of relief

open to the Plaintiff under the contract. Defendants Tucker have accomplished this by being the initial parties to breach the contract by their withdrawal from the corporation of the real properties they had placed therein as security for the promissory note, thereby withdrawing the real properties from the terms of the agreement. Next, the Defendants Tucker completely abandoned the corporation to the Simpsons, thereby allowing the Simpsons to destroy completely the value of the stock held as security by issuing new stock which destroyed the controlling interest once held as collateral.

It is fundamental to the doctrine that a court may determine matters on the basis of public policy that a party should not be allowed to destroy completely all of the security in a contractual agreement and then require the injured party to look only to that security for relief. By their own conduct the Defendants Tucker have come into this court without "clean hands" and are estopped from claiming that the Plaintiff can look only to the security outlined in the terms of the agreement. 27 Am.Jur.2d, Equity, §136 (1966).

The Defendants Tucker were the parties initially in breach of the contract and did everything within their power to destroy the collateral held for Plaintiff. They cannot now demand that this court restrict Plaintiff's remedy solely to acquisition of the now worthless stock. The trial court's decision was most certainly not limited by the terms of the breached agreement.

- B. The trial court was fully empowered to enter a personal judgment against the Defendants and to provide that the security held by the court should be sold to satisfy such judgment.

Defendants Tucker have attacked the actions of the trial court on the grounds that it was in violation of the supposed "one action rule" (§78-37-1, U.C.A.) and have cited two cases in support thereof, one of which is a Utah decision. (Appellants' Brief, 12-13). Their claim is that the statute and the cases control "the foreclosure of mortgages upon real estate and personal property." However, Defendants Tucker have apparently overlooked the fact that for the past 10 years that statute and the Utah case following it have been stricken from the books.

For the past 10 years §§78-37-1 and 78-37-2 have expressly and purposely omitted any reference to personal property and this would include the stock certificates in the present case. See §78-37-1, U.C.A. (n. 1975 supp.). The Legislature's removal of personal property foreclosure actions from the purview of these statutes can only be interpreted as a legislative determination that the provisions of the two statutes shall definitely exclude actions dealing with personal property. The reason for this is that in that same year the Utah Legislature adopted the Uniform Commercial Code thereby pre-empting and superseding any other statutes concerning security agreements and personal property. §70A-9-102 (1953,

"History"). Simply stated, the law relied upon by Defendants Tucker was repealed 10 years ago. See also Hubbs vs. Warehouse Service Commission, infra.

When the courts are dealing with security interests and chattel mortgages, the scope of their authority is quite broad. It is stated at 15 Am.Jur.2d, Chattel Mortgages, §233 (1964):

"When a court exercising equitable powers acquires jurisdiction of a suit to foreclose a chattel mortgage, it has the right to decide all matters involved in the suit. . . . Moreover, the court has inherent power to make supplemental orders affecting the details of the performance of its decree."
(Emphasis added.)

Concerning the performance of its decree, the case of Betty v. Tuer, 292 S.W. 271 (Tex.Civ.App., 1927) is instructive. In that case the court exercised the broad scope of its power to decree an order concerning a promissory note and foreclosure of a chattel mortgage by ordering that the plaintiff could execute on the mortgaged truck or any other property of the Defendant. The appellate court affirmed the trial court's order.

In the present case the court entered a personal judgment against the Defendants Tucker in the amount of \$151,878.75 plus \$52.10 court costs. Ordinarily, it would probably be most appropriate for the Plaintiff to seek to levy on whatever of Defendants' property that it wished. Owing, however, to the unusual circumstances of this case wherein the escrow agent

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